# SHEFFIELD CITY COUNCIL

## <u>Cabinet</u>

## Meeting held 10 May 2017

**PRESENT:** Councillors Julie Dore (Chair), Olivia Blake, Jackie Drayton, Jayne Dunn, Mazher Iqbal, Mary Lea, Bryan Lodge, Cate McDonald and Jack Scott

.....

## 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

1.1 An apology for absence was received from Councillor Ben Curran.

## 2. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS

2.1 No items were identified where it was proposed to exclude the public and press.

## 3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3.1 There were no declarations of interest.

## 4. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

4.1 The minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 19 April 2017 were approved as a correct record.

## 5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS

- 5.1 <u>Public Question in respect of Apprenticeship Levy</u>
- 5.1.1 Jake Hamilton referred to the new Apprenticeship Levy introduced by the Government. The effect of this was resulting in training providers facing cuts to their provision and not being able to meet delivery levels. Could the Council call on the Government to enable funding to be freed up to support these providers as a result?
- 5.1.2 Councillor Jackie Drayton, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Families commented that the levy was on all organisations and was intended to create more apprenticeships. However, it was difficult for smaller organisations to do that. Sheffield had a strong commitment to apprenticeships. It ran the 100 apprenticeship programme. Opportunity Sheffield supported smaller businesses who wanted to take on apprentices but lacked the infrastructure.
- 5.1.3 Councillor Drayton was aware that not everybody was ready to become an apprentice so the Council also had a pre-apprenticeship programme and supported traineeships. She was also pleased to hear that the South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive (SYPTE) had recently announced the expansion of the 16-18 bus pass to those in apprenticeships and training, in addition to those in education, and had also extended the period the pass could be used, through to

August.

5.14 The Leader of the Council, Councillor Julie Dore, added that the current Administration had made skills one of its priorities. The levy was a new scheme which made employers pay for the benefit they received. The introduction of the levy had been announced by the Government without thought as to how it would be implemented or the impact on small businesses and she added that now it had been introduced, the faults with the scheme would be exposed.

#### 5.2 <u>Public Question in respect of Public Engagement</u>

- 5.2.1 Nigel Slack asked, following the recent turnout in the Southey By-Election, what could the Council do to rejuvenate local electoral engagement? All out elections? Campaigning for PR at a local level? Given that Councillor Chaplin was the lowest polling Councillor in the Ward, did that mean that Councillor Chaplin would be up for re-election next year?
- 5.2.2 Councillor Julie Dore responded that the turnout for local elections was almost always lower than for a General Election. For a by-election, the turnout in Southey was actually fairly good. There were various reasons why people chose not to vote and she did not believe it was fair to say that 3 in 4 of the general public didn't care.
- 5.2.3 Councillor Dore further commented that one of the problems at a local level was the way Councillors were perceived and presented by the media. The key was to raise the value of the role of Local Government and what Councillors actually did and to show people that when they did engage with the Council it worked for them. The Council had done a lot of work with colleges and the Universities in respect of engaging young people and the Council had worked closely with Sheffield 4 Democracy and Sheffield Live to try and increase engagement.
- 5.3 <u>Public Question in respect of Elected Mayors</u>
- 5.3.1 Nigel Slack commented that turnout for the Regional Mayoral Elections was an average of only 27%. Even Andy Burnham only had 28.6% of the vote and in Tees Valley only 1 in 5 of the electorate voted. Can the Mayoral position make any difference to the negotiations with central Government with such an insignificant mandate?
- 5.3.2 Councillor Dore responded that she expected the turnout for the Mayoral and Local Elections would not be as high as for a General Election as they had not received as much media coverage as General Elections usually did. Councillor Dore was in favour of Proportional Representation and she was disappointed in the Liberal Democrats only pushing for the Alternative Vote when in the Coalition Government, which actually set progress back. The vote on this had shown, however, that the public appeared to like the First Past the Post system.
- 5.4 <u>Public Question in respect of Devolution</u>
- 5.4.1 Nigel Slack commented that, in the elections last week, Derbyshire County

Council changed from Labour to Conservative control. Has the Council considered if and how this might impact on the Devolution issues around Chesterfield's inclusion as a 'constituent Council' in the Combined Authority?

5.4.2 In response, Councillor Julie Dore stated that, when the Government amended its own legislation, it gave the power and responsibility to Local Authorities to decide if they wanted to become constituent members. As far as Councillor Dore was aware, nothing had changed and Derbyshire County Council still wished to remain a constituent Council. Progress had stalled slightly as a result of the Derbyshire County Council Judicial Review. Devolution was a Government policy so Councillor Dore could not see this impacting on the regions.

#### 5.5 Public Question in respect of Discrimination

- 5.5.1 Nigel Slack commented that he believed that bigotry and injustice should be challenged at every opportunity, if one was able to do so. This Council had a long history of similarly challenging prejudice at home and abroad. As a Gay man, the current situation in Chechnya was deeply disturbing and upsetting for Mr Slack. The apparent abduction, torture and killing of its own citizens for nothing more than loving someone of the same sex, for Mr Slack, puts that Government beyond the realms of normal human decency. To encourage families to murder their own children and to do so without any apparent challenge from the Russian Federal Government was simply appalling.
- 5.5.2 Mr Slack therefore called on the Council to, at the next available Full Council Meeting, bring forward a motion condemning the actions of the Chechen authorities and calling on the Russian Federal Government to speedily address the concerns of their own Gay community and communities around the world about this treatment of innocent men.
- 5.5.3 In addition, Mr Slack called on the Council to take a break from the usual tribal of the Chamber and to talk to other parties before the event to ensure a united front from the very start. To help facilitate this approach, Mr Slack would circulate this question to other party leaders and urge them to come together on this issue.
- 5.5.4 Councillor Dore commented that she shared the views and feelings of Mr Slack on this matter. She had campaigned for equality all her life and had worked closely with the LGBT community. She believed that it may be more effective, rather than just calling upon the Russian Government, to write to the Foreign Office to state that the Council was extremely concerned at recent events and requests that the Foreign Minister raises the concerns with his counterparts in Russia. As well as this, a Motion could also be put forward at Full Council as Mr Slack had requested.

## 6. ITEMS CALLED-IN FOR SCRUTINY

6.1 There were no items called-in for Scrutiny since the last meeting of Cabinet.

## 7. RETIREMENT OF STAFF

- 7.1 The Acting Executive Director, Resources submitted a report on Council staff retirements.
- 7.2 **RESOLVED:** That this Cabinet :-

(a) places on record its appreciation of the valuable services rendered to the City Council by the following staff in the Portfolio below:-

Name Post Years' Service

#### Children, Young People and Families

Lynette Atkin Admin/Finance Officer, St 23 Thomas More Catholic Primary School

(b) extends to them its best wishes for the future and a long and happy retirement; and

(c) directs that an appropriate extract of this resolution under the Common Seal of the Council be forwarded to them.

### 8. DEVELOPING SERVICES FOR CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND FAMILIES IN SHEFFIELD - REVIEWING OUR MODEL FOR CHILDREN'S CENTRE AREAS

- 8.1 The Executive Director, People Services, submitted a report on the Children's Centre consultation held between 1<sup>st</sup> November 2016 and 31<sup>st</sup> January 2017 and recommending proposals to develop a new delivery model for Children's Centre areas into Family Centre areas which:
  - Are for pre-birth 19 year olds (25 year olds if the young person has special educational needs or disabilities);
  - Are located in the 20% most deprived areas of the City within 7 locality areas; and
  - Provide services across Sheffield from link and outreach sites, including community venues and in the home.

#### 8.2 **RESOLVED:** That Cabinet approves:-

- (a) a new service delivery model based on dividing the city into 7 geographical locality areas, each area will include a main centre and linked centres or other community outreach sites for service delivery across the locality;
- (b) an extension of the age range from pre-birth to 5 to pre-birth to 19 year olds (25 year olds if the young person has special educational needs or disabilities);

- (c) that the 7 Family Centre main sites named in the report to be the designated Children's Centres addresses in order to meet a statutory duty to ensure provision of sufficient Children's Centres in the Local Authority's area, whilst noting that such designation will result in all services pre-birth 5 in the whole Family Centre locality being regulated and inspected by Ofsted under the current inspection framework for Children's Centres;
- (d) that services will be delivered in main and linked centres and outreach venues across the locality. They will run at various times and days and with core and extra services provided by a range of agencies at a variety of venues. Those services could include clinics, groups, drop-in and timetabled sessions; and
- (e) to continue the current governance model of multi-agency partnership boards in each area which will support the assessment of need across the locality to ensure services meet the needs of families when and where they are required.

## 8.3 Reasons for Decision

8.3.1 On 19th October 2016 a report was approved at Cabinet to allow statutory consultation to take place on a proposal to re-model the Children's Centres in Sheffield. The proposal supports the development of a more integrated approach with a greater focus on early help and with partnership working between the Council, health, Police, schools and voluntary sector to deliver a broader range of services provided across a network. This allows professionals to respond to a breadth of family needs such as health and wellbeing, housing, education, and employment. It is underpinned by information sharing protocols and builds on the premise that the safeguarding of children and young people and outcomes for families will be improved. The key elements of the proposal are as follows:

## **Development of Family Centres**

• The redesign of Children's Centres, developing a new delivery model based on family centres. These centres would be available for families of children pre-birth up to 19 year olds (25 year olds if the young person has SEND).

The creation of a Family Centre delivery model builds on the principle of early help and focuses on making interventions at an early stage once problems have begun but before they escalate. It provides an opportunity to build on the existing locality models that were piloted with many schools across the city and evaluated very positively. This model is now being developed further to include a broader range of partners including police, health, SEND teams and housing staff.

• 7 locality areas

• Children's Centres would be re-organised into an integrated locality model. It moves away from a single centre delivery model to a networked locality model based on the achievement of common outcomes.

The city would be divided into 7 geographical areas and the existing centres' areas will be altered to create seven locality areas. In each area there will be a lead centre which will remain a designated Children's Centre address and will be inspected under the current Children's Centre Ofsted Inspection framework in relation to services for children and families pre- birth to five years old. This inspection will cover all centres and services delivered in the whole geographical area.

### Locations

The main site for the Family Centres, the linked sites and outreach services will be located in the 20% most deprived areas of the city. It will act as a base for a full range of integrated services, to enable a clear focus for services on local need and priorities, and to provide support to those who are most vulnerable. Additional services also be available across Sheffield from link and outreach sites including schools, GP surgeries local community venues such as church halls and youth centres and in the home. These sites will offer clinics, groups and drop in services on a timetabled basis. Families will be able to access support outside these times through the venues or through one to one support in the home.

The proposal is intended to build on existing strengths, expertise and current infrastructure in Children's Centres and will join together and coordinate services around children and families. It recognises the critical role that Children's Centres have played in prevention and early intervention and will support further development, allowing us to join together and coordinate services offering the community universal, targeted and specialist services.

In summary the model will:

• Provide a range of early help services for families with children pre-birth to 19 year olds (25 year olds if the young person has SEND) either in the lead centre, link site or outreach venue using different channels to include face to face in the home, centre, drop ins, group work, internet access, online advice guides, email, text, telephone and social media.

• Provide services to include support with physical and emotional health, practical advice on keeping children safe, support with education and learning, support with parenting, home, money, work, training and volunteering.

• Have a main address located in 20% areas of highest need based on the IDACI index of deprivation, with outreach services for all families delivered jointly with universal services.

• Be developed with families, partners and stakeholders within communities building on the current Children's Centre governance model in relation to community partnerships and stakeholder forums.

• Align to the seven localities with families being able to access services where it meets their needs.

• Have services delivered at venues in a mix of times and days through regular, ad hoc, drop in basis, and one to one with opportunity to extend and develop this.

The Council has a statutory duty to ensure that there are sufficient children's centres in its area to meet local need. The proposal will require a reduction in the number of buildings designated as a main Children's Centre address from the current 16 to 7 main family centre areas but with the addition of link sites in the most disadvantaged areas of the city which should allow for greater access to services. More services would be delivered at outreach and community sites, reaching those most in need in their own community.

#### Key research, evidence base:

The Munro review of child protection calls for local authorities to take a greater focus on preventative services, providing early help to children and families and summarises three key messages:

• Preventative services will do more to reduce abuse and neglect than reactive services.

• Coordination of services is important to maximise efficiency and with preventative services.

• There needs to be good mechanisms for helping people identify those children and young people who are suffering or likely to suffer harm from abuse or neglect and who need a referral to children's social care.

(Munro, (2011), The Munro Review of Child Protection: final report, DFE

The All Party Parliamentary Group on Sure Start Children's Centres 2015 preelection report states that 'One of the greatest strengths of Children's Centres has always been their capacity to join up a wide range of services around a child to provide a true "holistic" model of support'.

The report continues to state that 'the ultimate aim should be to position Children's Centres at the heart of service provision in their communities, to enable them to provide the sort of holistic offer we know to be valued and effective'.

The Centre for Social Justice argued that 'Children's Centres should become "Family Hubs" which enable parents to access all family related support including universal support and specialist help to meet their most pressing needs'.

The key findings from the Evaluation of Children's Centres in England (ECCE), a six year study producing a detailed picture of the first 2 phases of Children's Centres in England, these which were aimed at the 30% most disadvantaged areas found that :

• There was a clear move away from standalone centres to those featuring clustering.

• Higher leadership and management scores were found in centres reporting better multi agency working.

• There was a high level of shared vision, however there were tensions in terms of communication and data sharing and misunderstanding over professional roles.

• Staff felt ill prepared over the policy shift to more targeted interventions.

• Centres shifted towards a more focused targeted range of services for parents and outreach to family homes.

• The number of services remained constant, the nature of the services changed, the frequency was often thinning and 'open access services' were being reduced while targeted services increased.

• Well evidenced programmes e.g. FNP, were widely used by centres but were less common than other named programmes

### 8.4 Alternatives Considered and Rejected

8.4.1 The alternative approach would be for the Council to continue to deliver Children's Centre Services from 16 children's centre areas. This approach does not align to the principles set out in the early help model, the Best Start 'A Great Start in Life' strategy, the SEND reform and Working Together to Safeguard Children, which are underpinned by delivery of services based in localities where services work together to achieve improved outcomes for families as close to their homes and communities as possible.

#### 9. MONTH 12 CAPITAL APPROVALS

- 9.1 The Acting Executive Director, Resources submitted a report providing details of proposed changes to the Capital Programme as brought forward in Month 12 2016/17.
- 9.2 **RESOLVED:** That Cabinet approves the proposed variations, slippage and additions to the Capital Programme listed in Appendix 1 of the report, including the procurement strategies, and delegates authority to the Interim Director of Finance and Commercial Services to award the necessary contracts following stage approval by Capital Programme Group.

#### 9.3 **Reasons for Decision**

9.3.1 To record formally changes to the Capital Programme and gain Member approval for changes in line with Financial Regulations and to reset the Capital Programme in line with latest information.

#### 9.4 Alternatives Considered and Rejected

9.4.1 A number of alternative courses of action are considered as part of the process undertaken by Officers before decisions are recommended to Members. The recommendations made to Members represent what Officers believe to be the best options available to the Council, in line with Council priorities, given the constraints on funding and the use to which funding is put within the Revenue Budget and the Capital Programme.